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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR

Jonathan Kahn
Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP
jonathan.kahn@blakes.com

We are pleased to present our fall newsletter, the first
of the 2006-07 year. In this issue, we focus on
enforcement issues. Our winter issue, scheduled for
February or March, will be a joint effort with the
Public Land and Resources Committee. We
encourage all of you to consider submitting articles for
that publication.

The Mining Committee had a busy year last year,
culminating in some excellent programs at the

14th Section Fall Meeting in San Diego. We hope to
be even more active this year. 1 would encourage you
to get in touch with me or any member of our
leadership group if you have program ideas or ideas
for publications or public service projects.

We continue to look for people to join our leadership
group. Ifyou are interested in becoming more active in
Section activities please contact me. All the best for
the holiday season.

MESSAGE FROM THE EDITOR

Joseph M. Dawley
Babst, Calland, Clements & Zomnir, P.C.
jdawley@bccz.com

This issue provides three great articles on enforcement
mechanisms under the Surface Mining Control and
Reclamation Act of 1977 (SMCRA). Inthe first
article, Allyn Turner and Andrew McAllister provide an
overview of the SMCRA’s Ten Day Notice (TDN)
letter provision and the role that the TDN plays in the
Office of Surface Mining’s (OSM) oversight of state
agencies responsible for administering and enforcing
state surface mining laws in primacy states and how
third parties have used the TDN as a means to appeal
unfavorable decisions issued by the state regulatory
agency. Inthe second article, John Austin provides a
government perspective on SMCRA's alternative
enforcement provisions and explains how OSM uses
these provisions to enforce mining laws against
recalcitrant owners and operators. Lastly, Helena
Racin describes SMCRA’s bonding provisions and
explains the enforcement consequences of bond
forfeiture.

I hope that you find these articles as insightful and
interesting as | have. | want to thank our authors for
their contributions and for making this issue a success.
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SURVEY OF OSM'S USE OF
TEN DAY NOTICE LETTERS

Allyn G. Turner
aturner@spilmanlaw.com
Andrew A. McCallister
amccallister@spilmanlaw.com
Spilman Thomas & Battle, PLLC

Introduction

In May 2006, the Office of Surface Mining (OSM)
issued a “Ten Day Notice” letter (TDN letter) to the
West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection
(WVDEP) relating to a surface mine in the southern
part of the state. OSM sent the letter based on a third
party’s written complaint that the operator of that
surface mine violated its permit by timbering outside of
the specified period. Inthis particular case, the
complaining party had already raised the same
complaint to WVDEP, which investigated and found
that no violation had occurred. Regardless of the merit
of the complaint, the mine was facing the uncertainty of
an additional investigation, a possible cessation of
mining operations and a potentially costly penalty.

The third party in this case complained about timbering
to OSM despite this investigation and finding by the
state permitting authority and in the context of an
appeal of the mine operator’s permit on unrelated
issues. WVDEP was forced to defend its decision to
OSM and the federal agency ultimately agreed with the
WVDEP’s prior conclusion that no violation had
occurred. OSM’s determination came after the appeal
of the mine’s permit was resolved, but the TDN letter
was a complicating factor in reaching the permitting
resolution. Once the appeal was concluded, the third
party did not pursue the complaint any further.

Despite this outcome, the third party’s complaint, and
OSM’sissuance of a TDN letter based upon arguably
scant evidence, raises serious questions about the role
of TDN letters and whether third parties can use
complaints to OSM to delay and otherwise interfere
with properly permitted surface mining operations or as
bargaining chips in unrelated permit appeals.



TDN letters are issued infrequently in some
jurisdictions, so coal operators and their lawyers may
be unfamiliar with the procedures OSM must follow in
issuing a TDN letter and the steps a state regulatory
agency must take in response. This article discusses
those steps, examines general trends in TDN letters,
and considers whether a third party’s decision to use
OSM as both a de facto appeals board for the alleged
timber violations and another bargaining chipin
negotiations to settle an unrelated appeal signals a new
approach that other citizens, environmental groups and
government agencies may adopt.

Background on TDN Letters

While most states with significant coal mining
operations have obtained primacy in regulating surface
mining within their borders, OSM still plays a
significant role in regulating the industry. When OSM
is not the primary agency regulating surface miningina
state, it assumes a distinct oversight role created for it
by the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act
(SMCRA). Inthisrole, OSM is responsible for
overseeing that state agency’s proper regulation of the
industry and for ultimately ensuring that mining
operations are following the law.

OSM’s ability to issue TDN letters to state agencies is
an infrequently used but important part of this oversight
role. After OSM becomes aware of a possible
violation at a mine site, it is required to notify the state
regulatory agency of the problem. This notice has
come to be known as a “Ten Day Notice” letter
because the state agency has 10 days to take action to
rectify the violation after receiving the notice.

There are two situations that most often trigger OSM’s
issuance of a TDN letter. First, OSM inspectors often
accompany state inspectors on mine site inspections.
These joint inspections, sometimes referred to as
“oversight inspections,” can lead toa TDN letter if the
OSM inspector notes a violation during the inspection.
Typically,a TDN letter will only result if the state
inspector disagrees with the OSM inspector’s
conclusion or OSM feels that there is some reason to
believe that the state agency will not adequately
address the problem without formal prompting from
OSM.

Second, when a private citizen, interest group or
government agency makes a complaint abouta mine
site, OSM may issue a TDN letter to the state
regulatory authority. A citizen complaint must be in
writing or be made by an initial oral report that is
subsequently followed by a written statement. Any
person can provide the initial complaint and there must
only be enough evidence for OSM to conclude that, if
the allegations of the complaint are true, a violation
may be occurring. If that complaint gives OSM
“reason to believe that any person is in violation of any
requirement” of SMCRA, its regulations, or a permit
condition, then OSM will send a TDN letter to the
state agency. 30 U.S.C. §1271(a)(1).

When third parties complain about a site, their identity
will remain confidential unless that person decides to
accompany OSM on an inspection of the surface mine
where violations are allegedly occurring. If the person
alleging the violation provides adequate proof that the
possibility of an “imminent danger of significant
environmental harm” exists, then the 10-day
notification requirement may be waived. Id.
Otherwise, the state agency will be given 10 days to
“take appropriate action to cause the violation to be
corrected or to show good cause for such failure” and
must notify OSM of its actions.

State Responses to TDN Letters

When OSM sends a TDN letter to a state agency as
the result of an oversight inspection, OSM and the
state agency typically will attempt to work to reconcile
their positions. The OSM and state agency
supervisors, for example, may disagree with their
inspectors and have room to resolve their dispute. If
no agreement is reached, however, OSM has the
authority to write the company a violation. It can also
initiate its process to take over the state program, and
in such a case would administer the state program
while going through a notice and hearing procedure
which is designed to determine if the state agency has
systematically failed to implement regulations. OSM
will relinquish control back to the state agency only
after the state agency satisfies OSM that it will
adequately administer the program again. OSM
takeover, of course, is an option of last resort and it is
unlikely to occur except in rare circumstances.



The 10-day investigation period is more critical when
the TDN letter is prompted by a citizen complaint.
With a citizen complaint, the state agency may not be
aware of the circumstances surrounding the alleged
violation, and will be required to mobilize its resources
to investigate the complaint, reach its conclusions, and
respond to OSM in 10 days.

Within 10 days of receiving the TDN letter, the state
agency must notify OSM that it has taken “appropriate
action to correct the action or give “good cause” for its
failure to doso. 30 C.F.R.§842.11(b)(1)(ii)(B)(1).
Appropriate action is defined as any enforcement or
other action authorized by the state program which
causes the violation to be corrected. Good cause for
failure to take action means (1) a finding that the
alleged violation does not exist, (2) the state agency
requires an additional amount of time to complete its
investigation, (3) the state agency lacks jurisdiction
over the alleged violation or (4) the state agency is
precluded from acting on the possible violation by
some administrative or judicial officer. 30 C.F.R.
§842.11(b)(1)(i1)(B)(4).

If the state agency does not respond to OSM within
10 days, then OSM must conduct an immediate
inspection of the mine site in question. 30 C.FR.
§842.11(b)(2)(i1)(B)(1). When the state agency
submits a response, but OSM determines that this
response is unacceptable, then OSM must make a
written determination of why the state agency’s
response is unacceptable. 30 C.F.R.
§8842.11(b)(1)(iii)(A). Astate agency that disagrees
with OSM’s finding can request an informal review of
the dispute by the deputy director of OSM within five
days of receiving the written determination. Id.

In cases where OSM has received a response from the
state agency, but disagrees with the state agency’s
findings, OSM’s inspection must wait until the close of
the five-day period for the state agency to request an
informal review. 30 C.F.R. 8 842.11(b)(1)(iii)(B).
This informal review will result in a determination by
the deputy director within 15 days. 30 C.F.R.
§842.11(b)(1)(iii)(C). Once the appeal period has
passed or the deputy director has rendered a decision,
OSM must conduct an immediate investigation of the

mine site where the alleged violation exists. The
complaining party has the right to accompany the

OSM inspector during this investigation, but the
complaining party must be accompanied by OSM
personnel atall times. 30 C.F.R. 8§ 842.12(c). Afterit
conducts an inspection, OSM has the authority to issue
aviolation or, if necessary, take over administration of
the state program until it is satisfied that the state
agency will properly administer the program.

State Experiences with TDN Letters

As coal mining expands to meet the nation’s energy
needs, so do the possibilities for greater opposition
from citizens, environmental groups and government
agencies who oppose coal mining or the expansion of
it. These or other third parties may look to the TDN
letter process as an easily invoked mechanism to delay
or interfere with mining operations.

As of this writing, the overall number of TDN letters
prompted by citizen complaints has not increased.
State mine regulatory agencies in West Virginia,
Kentucky and Wyoming, for example, have continued
to receive a relatively steady number of TDN lettersin
the past few years. Inaddition, the proportion of TDN
letters prompted by oversight investigations compared
to those provoked by a citizen complaint has also
remained relatively stable.

This relatively stable number of TDN letters is
significant for two reasons. First, the stable number of
complaints seems to indicate that OSM and the state
agencies have established a good working relationship
where each party understands the other’s expectations.
Presumably, state regulatory agencies are fulfilling
OSM'’s expectations with regard to administering the
surface mining act and regulations. Second, the stable
proportion of citizen complaints would seem to indicate
that TDN letters are not yet being used to provoke
unnecessary investigations of surface mines. In fact,
the TDN letter process appears to generally work as
intended.

There are, however, a few areas where the TDN letter
may not be working as intended. Most citizen
complaints are initially made to the state agencies



responsible for regulating surface mining. Insome
cases, however, citizens file a complaint with both the
state regulatory agency and OSM simultaneously. If
the citizen has reason to believe that the state agency
will not fulfill its investigatory duties without some
outside pressure to do so, or anticipates that it will not
accept the state agency’s decision, then simultaneous
filing gives the citizen the assurance that OSM will be
looking over the state agency’s shoulder throughout the
investigation. Simultaneous filing, though, may
complicate the state agency’s investigation because it
forces the agency not only to investigate the complaint
within a limited amount of time, but also to coordinate
with OSM in the process and address any of its
concerns. Although this use of the TDN process
presents unnecessary duplication, there is no regulatory
recourse for either the state agency or the mining
operator.

Another inefficiency in the TDN process is citizens’ use
of TDN letters as a type of appeal from a state agency
decision with which they disagree. Itis possible thata
citizen, environmental group, or government agency
may use the TDN letter to get a second “bite at the
apple” after the state agency has investigated and
dismissed a complaint on the same issue. While the
mining operation may want to work directly with the
state agency to help expedite its additional investigation
and to provide information to support the agency’s
earlier conclusion, mine operators will likely be
frustrated by the duplicated process and added
uncertainty regarding its compliance status.

In many cases, OSM will accept the results of the state
agency'’s earlier finding that no violation exists, but
there is no provision that requires OSM to give weight
to the state agency’s earlier findings. Regardless, once
a TDN isissued, the state agency must answer OSM’s
inquiry about a violation that it has already determined
does not exist—not the most efficient use of limited
state resources. If OSM does not accept the state
agency’s findings, then OSM may conduct its own
investigation. While this option is within OSM’s rights
under SMCRA and the regulations, the potential exists
for turning OSM into a “second chance” review board.

Conclusion

As seen in the recent West Virginia case, the TDN
letter has the potential for wider use by third parties in
the future. Citizens, environmental groups, and
government agencies may turn to OSM in hopes of
getting a favorable result where one is not expected or
has not been received from the state. Such an
approach may be frustrating to the mine operator who
has no direct role inthe TDN letter resolution, will
require expenditure of limited resources by both OSM
and the state agencies, and is unlikely to lead to greater
environmental protection.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
AND NR&E
AVAILABLE ONLINEAT
www.abanet.org/environ/

Section members are able to view The Year
in Review 2005 and Natural Resources &
Environment in the Section Members Only
portion of the Section Web site. The online
version of The Year in Review 2005 contains
all chapters found in the paper copy, each in
.pdf format. NR&E online contains all articles
found in the paper copy, created in .pdf
format. Past issues dating back to 2002 can
be found in the archives page.

As a member of the Section, you have
access to view both The Year in Review 2005
and NR&E after logging onto the Web site
with your ABA Member ID number and
password.
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ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF ENFORCING
THE SURFACE MINING CONTROL AND
RECLAMATION ACT

John Austin—Staff Attorney
Office of the Solicitor—USDOI
Knoxville Field Office
jwaustin2Z@hotmail.com

The opinions expressed are those of the author, and
are not those of the Secretary of the Interior or the
Office of Surface Mining Reclamation &
Enforcement. Nothing herein should be taken as
an expression of the official position of the

U.S. Department of the Interior or any of its
subdivisions.

The Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of
1977 (SMCRA or “the Act”) provides the ways and
means for protecting society and the environment from
the adverse effects of coal mining operations.

SMCRA relies upon both federal and state agencies to
implement national environmental standards, and
provides the tools necessary for state and federal
regulators to impose personal liability upon corporate
officers who breach those national standards. This
article addresses the federal role in SMCRA’s
“cooperative federalism” system of enforcement,
explains the primary means of enforcing the Act, and
examines alternative means of enforcement through the
imposition of personal liability upon corporate officers
and other types of controllers of coal mining
operations.

The Federal Role in Cooperative
Enforcement

Congress set minimum environmental protection
standards for the entire nation in SMCRA, pre-empted
state laws and regulations that were less stringent than
those federal standards, and created a federal agency
(the Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and
Enforcement, generally known as OSM) to assist in the
enforcement of the national standards. The regulatory
plan established by Congress has been described as “a
system of ‘cooperative federalism.”” Horizon Coal
Corp. v. United States, 876 F. Supp. 1512 (N.D.

Ohio 1993), at 240, quoting Southern Ohio Coal
Company v. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation
and Enforcement et al, 20 F.3d 1418 at 1427

(6th Cir. 1994), cert. denied 513 U.S. 927;

115 S. Ct. 316; 130 L. Ed. 2d 278 (1994).

Congress determined that the “the primary
governmental responsibility for developing, authorizing,
issuing, and enforcing regulations for surface mining
and reclamation operations subject to this Act should
rest with the States” because of the “diversity in terrain,
climate, biologic, chemical, and other physical
conditions in areas subject to mining operations.”

30 U.S.C. §1201(f). One of OSM’s duties isto
evaluate the statutory and regulatory counterparts to
SMCRA when they are developed by a state that
wants to become the primary enforcer of the
environmental standards for coal mining operations
conducted within its boundaries. 30 U.S.C. § 1253.

A state can become the primary enforcer (i.e.,
“achieve primacy”) after state law and the regulations
implementing the state’s counterpartto SMCRA are
found by OSM to be as effective as the Act, and after
afinding is made by OSM that a state has “legal
authority and qualified personnel necessary for the
enforcement of the environmental protection
standards.” 30 U.S.C. § 1253(b)(4). When a state
program is approved by the secretary, the state
assumes primary responsibility for issuing mining
permits and enforcing its regulatory program. Inre
Surface Mining Regulation Litigation, 627 F.2d
1346 (D.C. Cir. 1980). Once a state successfully
assumes primary regulatory jurisdiction, OSM’s role
within the state is (a) to monitor the state regulatory
authority’s implementation of SMCRA, (b) to cite
imminent harm violations and (c) to cite other violations
that the state fails to appropriately address after being
given aten-day notice. Thisrole (often referred to as
“oversight”) is characterized by occasional minesite
inspections to evaluate the administration of approved
state programs, or to evaluate a citizen’s complaint.
30 U.S.C. §1271(a); see also National Coal Ass’n
v. Uram, 39 ERC (BNA) 1624, (D.D.C. 1994).
Once a state program is evaluated and approved by
OSM, the state statutes and regulations become
operative, and federal law and regulations, while



continuing to provide blueprint against which to
evaluate state’s program, drop out as operative
provisions. Bragg v. W. Va. Coal Ass’n, 248 F.3d
275 (4th Cir. 2001), cert denied 534 U.S. 1113, 151
L. Ed. 2d 885, 122 S. Ct. 920 (2002).

Under the system of cooperative federalism established
by Congress, primacy states are required to adhere to
the federal minimum standards of environmental
compliance. See, e.g., Hodel v. Virginia Surface
Mining and Reclamation Ass’n Inc., 452 U.S. 264,
(1981) at 289; see also 30 U.S.C. § 1211(c).
Congress made OSM the ultimate arbiter of adherence
to those nation-wide standards and gave the federal
agency arole in enforcing the national standards in
primacy states:

The Federal enforcement system. . . while
predicated upon the States taking the lead with
respect to program enforcement, at the same time
provides sufficient Federal backup to reinforce and
strengthen State regulation as necessary. Federal
standards are to be enforced by [OSM] on a
mine-by-mine basis for all or part of the State as
necessary without a finding that the State
regulatory program should be superseded by a
Federal permit and enforcement program.

S. Rep. No. 128, 95th Cong., 1st. Sess. 88 (1977),
emphasis added. This strong federal enforcement role
IS necessary “[flor anumber of predictable reasons—
including insufficient funding and the tendency for
State agencies to be protective of local industry—
State enforcement has in the past [i.e., prior to 1977]
often fallen short of the vigor necessary to assure
adequate protection of the environment.” H.R. Rep.
No. 218, 95th Cong., 1st Sess. 129 (1977), emphasis
added.

Thus, even in primacy states, OSM is authorized to
cite violations of SMCRA when the state agency does
not. Annaco, Inc. v. Hodel, 675 F. Supp. 1052
(E.D. Ky. 1987). Moreover, in order to assure that a
violation is abated, OSM and the state regulatory
agency sometimes employ cooperative federalism to
cite more-or-less the same violation at more-or-less
the same time. See, e.g., Appolo Fuels, Inc. v. OSM,
144 1BLA 142 (1998), aff’d sub nom Appolo Fuels,

Inc., v. Babbitt, 270 F.3d 333 (6th Cir. 2001) cert
denied 535 U.S. 955 (2002). This typically happens
when the principals or deep-pocket agents of a
permittee/operator live in one state and the mining
operations are conducted in another. Additionally, as
will be explained below, state regulatory authorities are
finding it increasingly useful to seek “federal backup”
from OSM when a violator files bankruptcy.

Sidebar on Cooperative Federalism

In general, the statutes and regulations developed by
primacy states closely mirror SMCRA and the federal
regulations. Thus, when a federal statutory provision
or afederal regulation is mentioned in this article, the
practitioner can expect to find a counterpart in each
state where coal is mined. The statutory and
regulatory provisions are likely to be nearly identical to
the federal versions, with some exceptions. Some
primacy states choose to make aspects of their state
program more stringent than the counterpart aspect of
SMCRA. Some state legislatures have prohibited the
state regulatory authority from adopting any regulation
that is more stringent than the SMCRA counterpart.

Although OSM is required to evaluate state programs
and proposed state regulations to assure that they meet
the national standards established by Congress, the
SMCRA system of cooperative federalism does not
create privity between OSM and the various state
regulatory authorities. See, e.g., Triple R Coal Co. v.
OSM, 126 IBLA 310 (1993) and R.C.T.
Engineering, Inc.,v. OSM, 121 IBLA 142 (1991).
OSM cannot be collaterally estopped by a state
regulatory authority’s action or inaction since there is
no privity between them. Accordingly, OSM is not
necessarily bound by the outcome of the state
enforcement proceeding. Appolo Fuels, Inc., supra.
By regulation, OSM has agreed to be bound by the
outcome of a state proceeding when it is determined
that the alleged violation does not exist under state law.
30 C.F.R. §842.11(b)(ii)(B)(4)(i).

The Primary Means of Enforcement
Title VV of the Act provides an array of enforcement

tools for regulatory authorities to use to achieve
environmental compliance. Regulatory authorities



primarily employ notices of violation, cessation orders
and civil penalty assessments to achieve compliance.

The normal and primary way of enforcing SMCRA is
for a surface mining inspector from a state regulatory
authority or from OSM to inspect a mining operation
for environmental compliance, and to cite the permittee
or operator for violations of the mining plan or for
violations of the regulations that implement the Act.
When aviolation is cited, civil penalties can be
assessed to punish the permittee or operator for failing
to mine in the proper manner, and to provide an
economic disincentive for future violations. The
amount of the civil penalty assessed depends upon a
number of factors, such as the seriousness of the
violation and the operation’s history of compliance.
The factors considered by OSM in assessing federal
civil penalties are set out at 30 C.F.R. § 845.13.

Civil penalties may amount to only a few hundred
dollars for minor violations. However, OSM and the
state regulatory authorities can assess hefty fines for
more serious violations, such as those that pose an
imminent danger to the health or safety of the public or
significant environmental harm to land, air or water
resources. The range of civil penalties that OSM can
assess issetout in 30 C.F.R. § 845.14. Thankstoa
recent implementation of the Federal Civil Penalties
Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, the maximum fine
OSM can now assess is $6,500 per day per violation,
rather than the $5,000 limitation set outin SMCRA at
30 U.S.C. §1268(a). 70 Fed. Reg. 70,698 (Nov. 22,
2005).

Most permittees and operators abate their SMCRA
violations shortly after the regulatory authority issues a
citation and assesses a civil penalty. Unfortunately,
some SMCRA violators are not persuaded by those
primary methods of enforcement to abate their
environmental problems within a reasonable time.
When that happens, regulators have an obligation to
pursue alternative forms of enforcement.

Alternative Forms of Enforcement

“Alternative enforcement” is the term used by surface
mining regulators to describe the different types of

actions that may be taken when the primary
enforcement tools don’t work sufficiently well to cause
the violations to be abated. Though the term is not
defined in the Act or its implementing regulations, the
obligation to consider taking an alternative enforcement
action is spelled out in 30 C.F.R. 8 845.15(b)(2).

That federal regulation provides that, if a permittee/
operator fails to abate a cessation order within thirty
days, the regulatory agency “shall take appropriate
action . . . to ensure that abatement occurs or to ensure
that there will not be a reoccurrence of the failure to
abate.” The statutory provisions identified as being
“appropriate” alternatives by 30 C.F.R.

§ 845.15(b)(2) give regulators—

m  theability to criminally prosecute individuals
who willfully and knowingly violate a condition
of a permit or who fail or refuse to comply with
a cessation order [see 30 U.S.C. § 1268(e)];

m  theability toimpose individual civil penalties
upon “any director, officer, or agent of [a]
corporation who willfully and knowingly
authorized, ordered, or carried out” a decision
by the corporate permittee or operator to
violate a condition of a permit or a decision to
fail or refuse to comply with a cessation order
[see 30 U.S.C. § 1268(f)]; and

m theability to obtain an injunction against a
permittee or the agent of a permittee who
violates or fails or refuses to comply with any
order or decision issued to enforce SMCRA
[see 30 U.S.C. 8§ 1271(c)].

Additionally, there are other statutory tools that
compliment the alternative enforcement actions
specified in 30 C.F.R. 8 845.15(b)(2). Those other
tools give regulatory authorities the ability to link
corporate agents, officers, directors and shareholders
to violations attributable to their corporations through
OSM’s Applicant/Violator System, and enable the
regulators to block the issuance of coal mining permits
to applicants that own or control mining operations
with unabated SMCRA problems. See 30 U.S.C.

8§ 1260(c) and the ownership and control regulations at
30 C.F.R. Parts 773 and 778. While permit blocks



are not, strictly speaking, enforcement actions, and
being linked to a violation does not impose personal
liability for the violation on the linked officer or agent,
the authority to block permits is a powerful alternative
to the primary enforcement tools of SMCRA.. In
2000, OSM adopted new federal regulations at

30 C.F.R. Part 847 to implement the alternative
enforcement provisions of 30 U.S.C. §8§ 1268(e),
1268(f) and 1271(c), and, at the same time, modified
aspects of the federal ownership and control
regulations at 30 C.F.R. Parts 773 and 778, in part to
make them better dovetail with alternative enforcement
actions.

Injunctions against Agents

Whether itis a “mom and pop” corporation or a multi-
state, publicly traded corporation, every corporation
acts through its agents. The ability to make agents
individually liable for abating violations is the key to
alternative enforcement. Pursuant to 30 U.S.C.
81271(c),

The Secretary [of the Interior, on behalf of OSM]
may request the Attorney General to institute a civil
action for relief, including a permanent or
temporary injunction, restraining order, or any
other appropriate order in the district court of
the United States for the district in which the
surface coal mining and reclamation operation is
located or in which the permittee thereof has his
principal office, whenever such permittee or his
agent (A) violates or fails or refuses to comply
with any order or decision issued by the Secretary
under thisAct. . ..

30 U.S.C. §81271(c), emphasis added. While
authorizing district courts to issue any appropriate
order to agents to enforce cessation orders, neither the
Act nor its implementing regulations define “agent” or
“appropriate order.” However, definitions for those
terms have been supplied and clarified through case
law.

In 1982, the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit
held that “agent” as used in 30 U.S.C. § 1271(c),
“includes that person charged with the responsibility for

protecting society and the environment from the
adverse effects of the surface coal mining operation
and particularly charged with effectuating compliance
with environmental performance standards during the
course of a permittee’s mining operation.” The court
determined that persons who have control over
corporate mining operations are agents for SMCRA
purposes even if they are not officers or employees of
the corporation. United States v. Dix Fork Coal
Co., 692 F.2d 436, (6th Cir. 1982), at 439-440. In
alternative enforcement parlance, such persons are
called “Dix Fork agents.”

The holding in United States v. Dix Fork Coal Co.
has been followed in several published decisions. See,
e.g., United States v. Peery, 862 F.2d 567 (6th Cir.
1988); United States v. Aiken, 867 F.2d 965 (6th
Cir. 1989); United States v. Hubler, 117 B.R. 160
(W.D. Pa. 1990); Rice v. Alabama Surface Mining
Commission, 555 So. 2d 1079 (Ala. 1989); Payne v.
Kentucky, 746 S.W.2d 90 (Ky. 1988); Couch v.
Kentucky Natural Resources and Environmental
Protection Cabinet, 986 S.W.2d 158 (Ky. 1990).
The list of unpublished decisions is much longer.

The published and unpublished progeny of United
States v. Dix Fork generally hold that persons who
possess the ability to control a permittee/operator have
aduty (1) to prevent SMCRA violations from
occurring and (2) to promptly abate violations once
they occur. The breach of either duty by a principal or
an agent justifies the imposition of individual liability
through an order issued pursuant to 30 U.S.C.

8 1271(c). Dix Fork agency is not a legal anomaly. It
IS consistent with the vast amount of case law that
imposes liability on individuals who have the ability to
control an instrumentality capable of causing harm, but
fail to prevent a foreseeable injury. The similarity
between the imposition of personal liability under
environmental law for breaches of a duty and under
tort law is well recognized. See, e.g., Oswald and
Schipani, CERCLA and the *“Erosion”” of
Traditional Corporate Law Doctrine, 86 Nw. U. L.
Rev. 259 (1992).

The holding in Dix Fork is consistent with several
other legal principals that impose personal liability upon



corporate agents and officers who possess the
requisite ability to control a corporate violator. See,
e.g., Citronelle-Mobile Gathering, Inc. v.
Herrington, 826 F.2d 16 (Temp. Emer. Ct. App.
1987), cert. denied sub nom Chamberlain v. United
States, 108 S. Ct. 327 (1987) (a person who is the
“central figure” or “animating force” behind a
corporations’ breach of a statute may be held
individually liable for that breach); and see the case
law on the responsible corporate officer doctrine, as
set out in Wise, Personal Liability Promotes
Responsible Conduct: Extending the Responsible
Corporate Officer Doctrine to Federal Civil
Environmental Enforcement Cases, 21 Stan.
EnvL. L. J. 283 (2002), including United States v.
Dotterweich, 320 U.S. 277 (1943) and United
States v. Hodges X-Ray, Inc., 759 F.2d 557 (6th Cir.
1985). Under the responsible corporate officer
doctrine, a corporate officer who has the authority to
make decisions regarding the operation of a regulated
facility and fails to implement prophylactic measures
that would prevent violations from occurring is
personally liable for those violations.

An injunction imposing personal liability ona Dix Fork
agent pursuant to 30 U.S.C. § 1271(c) can be
enforced through the court’s contempt powers. Courts
are, of course, authorized to sanction acts of
disobedience to injunctions with fines and with
incarceration for civil contempt. “Judicial sanctionsin
civil contempt proceedings may, in a proper case, be
employed for either or both of two purposes: to
coerce the defendant into compliance with the court’s
order, and to compensate the complainant for losses
sustained.” United States v. United Mine Workers,
330 U.S. 258 (1947). OSM has convinced courts to
hold in contempt several principals and agents who
have failed to comply with reclamation injunctions
issued pursuant to 30 U.S.C. 8 1271(c).

Individual Civil Penalties
The statutory and regulatory authority for imposing
individual civil penalties (ICPs) upon corporate officers

is straightforward. The Act provides

Whenever a corporate permittee violates a
condition of a permit. . . or fails or refuses to

comply with any order issued under [30 U.S.C.

8 1271], or any order incorporated in a final
decision issued by the Secretary . . . any director,
officer, or agent of such corporation who
willfully and knowingly authorized, ordered,
or carried out such violation, failure, or
refusal shall be subject to the same civil penalties,
fines, and imprisonment that may be imposed upon
a person under subsections (a) and (e) of

[30 U.S.C. 1268].

30 U.S.C. 1268(f), emphasis added. Througha
federal regulation, OSM has restricted the imposition
of individual civil penalties to cessation orders.

30 C.F.R. § 846.12(b).

Although the language of the statute and regulation is
clear, corporate officers and agents sometimes fail to
appreciate that the activity that exposes them to
personal liability for ICPs (i.e., willfully and knowingly
creating a violation, or failing or refusing to cause the
violation to be abated) is the same activity that exposes
them to personal liability under the holding in United
States v. Dix Fork. In fact, a Dix Fork agent can be
compelled to pay to abate a violation, and can be
assessed an individual civil penalty that is based, in
part, upon the cost of abatement. 30 C.F.R.
§846.14(a)(2).

The ability to assess ICPs at the rate of $6,500 per
day per violation from the date the violation is cited
until the date the violation is abated [see 30 C.F.R.
8846.14(b)] is generally sufficient to get the attention
of even the richest SMCRA scofflaw. Rather than
paying OSM twice for the same violation, most agents
seek a reasonable settlement. OSM is specifically
authorized by regulation to enter into written
“abatement agreements” with recipients of ICPs that
enable the agent or officer to “postpone payment until
receiving either a final order from the Office stating that
the penalty is due on the date of such final order, or
written notice that abatement or compliance is
satisfactory and the penalty has been withdrawn.”

30 C.F.R. § 846.18(c).
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Criminal Sanctions and Permit Blocks
The Act provides that

Any person who willfully and knowingly violates a
condition of a permit. . . or fails or refuses to
comply with any order issued under [30 U.S.C.

88 1271 or 1276], or any order incorporated in a
final decision issued by the Secretary under this
Act, . .. shall, upon conviction, be punished by a
fine of not more than $10,000, or by imprisonment
for not more than one year or both.

30 U.S.C. 81268(e). As a practical matter, this
statutory provision criminalizes decisions of corporate
officers or agents to ignore a cessation order by
continuing to conduct surface coal mining operations.

Although 30 C.F.R. § 845.15(b)(2) identifies criminal
sanctions as an “appropriate” alternative to the primary
enforcement mechanisms of SMCRA, criminal
sanctions simply do not have as much utility for
regulators as the other alternative enforcement tools.
As noted above, OSM is authorized by 30 C.F.R.

8 846.18(c) to enter into written “abatement
agreements” that trade reclamation for ICPs. More
reclamation has been accomplished by OSM through
negotiated settlement agreements than through the filing
of lawsuits against Dix Fork agents. However,
regulators cannot threaten criminal prosecutions or
negotiate the settlement of criminal sanctions in the
same manner that ICPs and lawsuits against agents can
be threatened and settled. Threats to criminally
prosecute an agent would likely be viewed as a misuse
of criminal process to gain a civil advantage, and, for
the lawyers representing the regulators, would violate
the Canons of Ethics of the legal profession.

The ability of OSM and the state regulatory agencies
to block permits to applicants under certain
circumstances is a form of coercion that both legal and
ethical. This alternative means of enforcing SMCRA
was brilliantly explained by Joseph Zaluski and Lesley
Davis in the March 2006 edition of this newsletter in an
article entitled, Exiting the Coal Mining Business: Is
it True that Death Is the Only Way Out? Their
article contains a concise account of OSM’s Applicant/

Violator System (AVS) and the ownership and control
issues that arise under 30 U.S.C. § 1260(c). Inthe
context of escaping the imposition of personal liability
by death or otherwise, that article explains, “Through
imposition of indirect liability, i.e., ownership and
control links and “threatened” permit blocks through
the AVS, those who seek to transfer their liabilities and
thereby obtain mine closure are effectively prevented
from escaping responsibility and ignoring outstanding
obligations.” It may be worth noting that the holding in
an alternative enforcement case, United States v.
Aiken, supra, provides an answer to the question
posed by Zaluski and Davis. In Aiken, the Court of
Appeals for the Sixth Circuit ruled that the estate of a
deceased Dix Fork agent could be compelled to abate
SMCRA violations otherwise attributable to the
decedent’s corporation. Accordingly, death may not
be a viable way out for an agent of a corporation with
unabated SMCRA violations.

Developments in Alternative Enforcement
and Cooperative Federalism

In the early years of SMCRA, much of the litigation
that resulted from the oversight aspect of cooperative
federalism pitted OSM against a state regulatory
authority. Recently, however, OSM and state
regulatory authorities have successfully used
cooperative federalism and OSM’s oversight authority
to rectify unabated violations of bankrupt permittees/
operators.

State regulatory authorities are increasingly presented
with the difficult task of taking an enforcement action
against a permittee/operator who files bankruptcy ina
distant state. Many times the bankrupt mining
company operated in more than one state. Insuch
cases, in addition to the legal hurdles posed by the
long-distance bankruptcy, state regulatory authorities
face some practical problems: (1) the cash and
equipment needed to abate the SMCRA violations are
located in a different state; (2) the state regulatory
agency is reluctant to litigate in a federal forum like
bankruptcy court; and (3) besides having to compete
with secured and unsecured creditors of the bankrupt
permittee/operator, the surface mining regulatory
agencies of the several states in which the bankrupt
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coal company operated are competing with each other
for the same reclamation assets.

Several state regulatory authorities have found it
expedient to ask OSM for assistance with out-of-state
bankruptcies. The practical problems that are daunting
for a state regulatory agency are not nearly as difficult
for OSM to overcome. While state regulatory
agencies experience significant problems conducting
litigation in a federal court in a different state, OSM
can be represented by the Department of Justice in any
state. Itis highly likely that a United States attorney
will have an office in close proximity to a bankruptcy
court. Furthermore, when OSM undertakes an
alternative enforcement action, the federal case law
(United States v. Dix Fork and its progeny) is readily
applicable. With the exception of Kentucky and
Alabama, the state case law interpreting “agent” and
“appropriate order” is not yet as well-developed as the
federal case law. Finally, when there are multiple state
agencies with competing interests in the same assets of
a multi-state permittee/operator, OSM has a track
record of assisting the states in setting reclamation
priorities that transcend state boundaries.

OSM and several state regulatory authorities achieved
noteworthy success in the bankruptcies of two large,
multi-state permittee/operators, Lodestar Energy Inc.,
and Horizon Natural Resources, Inc. In both of those
cases, the ability and willingness of the state and
federal regulators to enforce SMCRA by imposing
individual liability upon agents and corporate officers
was a critical factor in the eventual abatement of
environmental violations, notwithstanding the legal
obstacles posed by the bankruptcies. In both
bankruptcies, the state and federal regulators were
able to negotiate the creation of multi-million dollar
reclamation funds that are being used to abate long-
standing SMCRA violations in the various states.
Contributions to the reclamation funds were made in
exchange for withholding injunction actions against Dix
Fork agents and withholding individual civil penalty
assessments. Given these recent successes, it is likely
that there will be more such examples of cooperative
federalism and the use of alternative enforcement
actions to prevent corporations and controllers of
corporations from privatizing assets while socializing
their SMCRA liabilities through bankruptcy.
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THE ATOMIC BOMB OF ENFORCEMENT:
BOND FORFEITURE UNDER SMCRA
AND STATE COUNTERPARTS

Helena E. Racin, Esq.
Wyatt, Tarrant & Combs, LLP
hracin@wyattfirm.com

Forfeiting a performance bond is a potential death knell
to coal companies and to their officers and directors.
For the convenience of the readers, this paper first
explains the parameters of a performance bond and of
its federal requirements. Next, it provides a state-
specific example of the relevant statutes, regulations
and case law for comparison.

Under the relevant provisions of the federal statute the
Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act
(SMCRA), 30 C.F.R. 88 700 et seq., a prerequisite
to any surface mining operation, or underground mining
operation if it disturbs areas of the surface, is posting a
performance bond. See 30 C.F.R. § 773.16 (2006).
The federal regulations set out the federal program.
States may implement their own regulatory program or
rely upon the Office of Surface Mining (OSM) to
implement the federal program. The regulatory
authority must first review an entity’s application,
approve same and then before a permit is issued, the
entity must post a performance bond to ensure
reclamation is performed. According to the federal
regulations, the bond is made payable to the regulatory
authority, and is conditioned upon the “faithful
performance” of all the requirements of SMCRA, the
regulatory program, the permit and of the reclamation
plan. See 30 C.F.R. § 800.11(a) (2006).

The amount of the bond must be sufficient to
encompass the entire permit area, or specify the
smaller parcel of land upon which the applicant will
initially mine and reclaim during the initial stages of the
permit. See 30 C.F.R. 8 800.11(b)(1) (2006). The
regulatory authority determines the bond amount by
first examining the requirements of the approved
permit, then of the reclamation plan, while including in
its analysis the potential environmental challenges
associated with the plan. See 30 C.F.R. §3800.14(a)
(2006). The amount of the bond must assure that if the

bond is forfeited, the regulatory authority will be able
to complete the proposed reclamation. See 30 C.F.R.
8800.14(b) (2006). Potential bond liability includes
only those actions which the permittee is obligated to
take under the permit, including the completion of the
reclamation plan so that the land will be capable of
supporting post-mining land use. See 30 C.F.R.
§800.13(d)(1) (2006).

The acceptable forms of a performance bond include a
surety bond; a collateral bond, such as an irrevocable
letter of credit; cash or certificate of deposit; a self-
bond; or any combination of those. See 30 C.F.R.
§800.12 (2006). Self-bonding is rare. The federal
regulations state that the purposes of the bonding
program are to ensure that the regulatory authority will
have sufficient monies to complete the reclamation plan
and to provide a substantial economic incentive for the
permittee to comply with reclamation. See 30 C.F.R.
§800.11(e) (2006).

In layman’s terms, the relevant process works in the
following manner. Acompany, Coal X, applies for a
surface mining permit listing its operators, Y and Z.
First, that permit will receive a technical review from
the regulatory authority. The regulatory authority then
calculates the monetary amount of the performance
bond necessary to ensure that Coal X, Y and Z will
perform the reclamation after mining is completed. See
30 C.F.R. §800.4(c) (2006). In essence, the amount
of the bond demonstrates the monetary amount that a
surety will be legally liable to spend in order for a third
party to restore the property to its natural state. See
30 C.F.R. 8800.4(g) (2006). The period of liability
begins when the permit is issued and it extends until all
reclamation, restoration and abatement work under the
permit has been completed. Inatypical procedure,
the bond is then released, replaced or extended. See
30 C.F.R. 8 800.17(b) (2006).

If Coal X and/orY and Z fail to comply with any of the
conditions of the permit, a citation or “Notice of
Violation is issued. If Coal X refuses to comply with
the requirements of the citation and/or to ameliorate the
problems listed in the citation, the violation remains
unabated. Under the federal regulations, if a company
either refuses or is simply unable to conduct
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reclamation of an unabated violation, if the terms of the
permit are not met or if the operator defaults on the
conditions under which the bond was accepted, the
regulatory authority must forfeit all or part of a bond or
bonds for any permit area or an increment of a permit
area. See 30 C.F.R. 8 800.50 (2006).

Under the federal regulations, the Order of Forfeiture
is issued, and the death knell has tolled. The regulatory
authority must (1) proceed to collect the forfeited
amount if the company does not contest such a
decision and (2) use the funds collected to complete
the reclamation plan, or portion thereof, on the permit
area or increment, to which bond coverage applies.
See 30 C.F.R. § 800.50 (2006). Inthe event the

bond amount forfeited is insufficient to pay for the full
cost of reclamation, Coal X is liable to the state for any
remaining costs. However, if the amount of the
forfeited bond is more than necessary to complete
reclamation, the unused funds will be returned to entity
furnishing the bond. See 30 C.F.R. § 800.50 (2006).

However, a forfeiture may be avoided if there exists an
(1) agreement by the permittee or by another party to
perform the reclamation operations in accordance with
a compliance schedule which meets the conditions of
the permit, the reclamation plan and the regulatory
program, and if there is a demonstration that such party
has the ability to satisfy the conditions; or if (2) the
regulatory authority allows a surety to complete the
reclamation plan, or the portion of the reclamation plan
applicable to the bonded phase or increment thereof, if
that surety demonstrates an ability to complete the
reclamation in accordance with the approved
reclamation plan. See 30 C.F.R. 8 800.50 (2006).

Although the act of forfeiture in and of itself may seem
harsh, the real enforcement comes when Coal X
attempts to apply for a future mining permit. Pursuant
to 30 C.F.R. § 778.14 (2006), the applicant for any
surface mining permit must submit, among other things,
a statement of whether the company, the operator, or
any subsidiary, affiliate or entity which the company
and the operator own or control, or which is under
common control, have ever forfeited abond in
connection with surface coal mining during the five-
year period preceding the date of submission of the

application. 30 C.F.R. § 778.14(a)(2) (2006).

Thus, if Coal X has forfeited a bond in the previous
five years, under the federal regulations they may not
be issued a new permit. Additionally, the officersand
directors of Coal X owning 10 percent or more of the
stock of Coal X, shall not be eligible to receive a
permit. Thisaction isentitled “permit blocking.”

Using Kentucky as an example (see each state’s
individual statutes and regulations for particular
applicable requirements), no entity may ever engage in
either surface mining or surface operations of
underground coal mining without first obtaining a
permit from the state regulatory authority in Kentucky;,
entitled the Environmental and Public Protection
Cabinet (EPPC). The applicable Kentucky permit
allows a company to mine on a particular piece of
property for a period of five years. See 405 Ky.
Admin. Regs. 3:050 (2006). In order to determine the
amount of the bond, the state determines, among other
things, the character and nature of the overburden, and
the cost of backfilling, grading and the reclamation to
be required. See 405 Ky. Admin. Regs. 3:050
(4)(15)(b)(2006). The bond is made payable to the
Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet. See 405
Ky. Admin. Regs. 10:010 (2)(2)(2006). Further, like
the federal regulations, under Kentucky law, the permit
may only authorize surface operations during a time for
which the permittee has posted appropriate bond
coverage. See 405 Ky. Admin. Regs. 3:050 (2006).

Like federal permits issued pursuant to 30 C.F.R.

§ 778.14 (2006), the Kentucky permit must also state
whether or not the applicable company is in
compliance with Kentucky statutes regarding
forfeitures of bond, among other things. The
applicable must also state whether or not every officer,
partner, director or any individual owning of record
beneficially (alone or with associates) if known, owning
10 percent or more of any class of stock of the
applicant, is in compliance as well. In fact, every
such person must so certify in order to receive a
permit. See 405 Ky. Admin. Regs. 3:050

(4)(2)(9)(2006).

With regard to forfeiture, a bond will be forfeited if the
EPPC finds that (a) the permittee has violated any of
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the terms or conditions of the bond and has failed to
take corrective action; (b) the permittee has failed to
conduct the surface mining and reclamation operations
in accordance with KRS Chapter 350, the conditions
of the permit, or 405 KAR Chapters 7 through 24
within the time required; (c) the permit for the area or
increment under bond has been revoked or the
operation terminated, unless the permittee, surety or
other financial institution providing bond assumes
liability pursuant to an agreement for the completion of
reclamation; or (d) the permittee, surety or other
financial institution providing bond has failed to comply
with a compliance schedule approved pursuant to
Section 1(2) or (3) of this administrative regulation.
See 405 Ky. Admin. Regs. 10:050 (2006).

In Kentucky, no company or operator who has
forfeited a bond shall be eligible to receive another
permit or begin another operation of underground
mining with potential surface effects unless the land for
which the bond was forfeited has been reclaimed
without cost to the Commonwealth, or the company
and/or operator has paid such a sum as the
Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet finds
adequate to reclaim the lands. See 405 Ky. Admin.
Regs. 3:050 (5)(10)(b)(2006). This ban or
prohibition, pursuant to SMCRA, has nationwide
application. Forfeiting a performance bond of even
$1,000.00 in one state will result in a denial of any sort
of permitting action of Coal X or Y and Z for their
existing company, or any future company in which they
might have an “ownership or control” relationship. As
aresult, fewer and fewer bonds are being forfeited.

Pursuant to the applicable Kentucky statute, KRS

8§ 350.130, after a Notice of Noncompliance is issued
for any failure to comply with the applicable
administrative requirements, there is a period of time
allocated for possible abatement, but if the violation is
not so abated, the secretary will issue an Order for
immediate compliance and cessation. See KRS
8350.130(1). If the company or its operator does not
reach an agreement with the cabinet or comply with the
requirements set forth in the Order, the cabinet may
revoke the permit and forfeit the performance bond.
Seeid.

Then, neither a permittee, nor an operator, nor a
person shall be eligible to receive another permit or to
have suspended permits reinstated until it complies
with all of the requirements listed in the Notice and
Order, or submitted satisfactory proof of such a
correction. As previously articulated, no permittee,
operator or person will be eligible to receive another
permit who has forfeited any bond unless the land for
which the bond was forfeited has been reclaimed
without cost to the state or the permittee, operator or
person has paid such sum as the cabinet finds is
adequate to reclaim the lands. See KRS

§ 350.130(3).

Thus, although less common in present times, the bond
forfeiture bomb has the potential to dramatically affect
coal companies, their operators, and depending upon a
particular state’s regulations, those who own

10 percent of an interest in the stock of a coal
company who applies for a surface mining permit. As
aresult of its potentially drastic effects, it is best for a
company to avoid this severe enforcement tool at all
costs. While it is possible to “unring the bell,” it is less
painful to diffuse the bomb before the performance
bond is forfeited.
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LIKE TO WRITE?

The Mining Committee welcomes the
participation of members who are
interested in preparing this newsletter.

If you would like to lend a hand by writing,
editing, identifying authors, or identifying
issues, please contact the editor, Joe
Dawley, at jdawley@bccz.com.
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